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BUSINESS oF JoINT CoMMITTEE

Business of Joint Committee

Chairman: I have received apologies from Senator Warfield.  I propose we go into private 
session to deal with housekeeping matters.  Is that agreed?  Agreed.

  The joint committee went into private session at 9.32 a.m. and resumed in public session 
at 10 a.m.

Governance Issues in Scouting Ireland: Discussion

Chairman: I welcome the members and any viewers who may be watching the proceedings 
on oireachtas TV to this public session.  The purpose of today’s meeting is to have a discus-
sion first with the Minister for Children and Youth Affairs, Deputy Zappone, on governance 
and child safeguarding policies in Scouting Ireland.  Our second session will be a discussion 
with representatives of Scouting Ireland on the same topic.  I would like to advise the members 
of the committee that while there have been reports in the media, it is important to note that 
the committee cannot discuss individual cases and members should avoid naming names and 
individuals, whether those names are in the public domain or not.  It is also important that we 
do not discuss anything which is likely to be the subject of court proceedings.

On behalf of the committee, I welcome the Minister for Children and Youth Affairs, Deputy 
Zappone.  She is accompanied by her officials, Ms Clare McNamara, principal officer in the 
Department of Children and Youth Affairs and Ms Michelle Shannon, director and assistant 
Secretary General in the Department.  Members are reminded of the long-standing parliamen-
tary practice to the effect that they should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a 
person outside the Houses or an official, either by name or in such a way as to make him, her 
or it identifiable.

I remind members and witnesses to please turn off their mobile phones or switch them to 
flight mode because they interfere with the sound system and make it difficult for parliamentary 
reporters to report the proceedings of the meeting.  Television coverage and Internet streaming 
might also be affected adversely.  I advise witnesses any submission or opening statement made 
to the committee will be published on its website after the meeting.  After the presentation, 
there will be questions from members.  I now call on the Minister, Deputy Zappone, to give her 
opening statement.  

Minister for Children and Youth Affairs  (Deputy  Katherine Zappone): I thank the 
Chair for inviting me to attend this session of the oireachtas Joint Committee on Children and 
Youth Affairs to address the subject of Scouting Ireland and its funding.  Deputies and Senators 
will be aware that the Department of Children and Youth Affairs administers a range of funding 
schemes and programmes to support the provision of youth services to young people through-
out the country including those from disadvantaged communities.  Youth clubs and services 
have a significant contribution to make to realise the goals of the national youth strategy as part 
of a cross-sectoral, whole of society approach to supporting young people in their everyday 
lives.  Scouting Ireland is one such service which provides a non-formal educational experience 
that is firmly rooted in the experiential educational mode.  It is one of Ireland’s largest youth 
movements, with more than 50,000 members.

Scouting Ireland is funded by my Department through the youth service grant scheme and 
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the allocation for 2018 was €876,336.  Scouting Ireland groups around the country also are 
eligible to apply for grants under the local youth club grant scheme.  In March or April 2018, 
I became aware that there were deficits in the governance arrangements in Scouting Ireland.  
I had concerns about how a serious alleged incident was handled in addition to other matters, 
including safeguarding and Garda vetting.  All publicly funded organisations are required to 
meet strong governance standards and as Minister for Children and Youth Affairs I have a duty 
of care regarding the public funding provided by my Department.  In light of my concerns, I 
decided to withhold any further drawdown of funding to Scouting Ireland until such time as I 
could be satisfied that the organisation’s governance standards were up to the required level.

When I became aware of the extent of the concerns, some of which had been aired in the 
media, I wrote to Scouting Ireland on Friday, 13 April advising it of my intention to withhold 
further funding to the organisation.  I also requested an urgent meeting with the board of Scout-
ing Ireland.  The purpose of the meeting was to provide Scouting Ireland with an opportunity 
to clarify the revelations highlighted in the media coverage which raised serious questions for 
the organisation.  I subsequently met with Scouting Ireland on 19 April.  It confirmed its com-
mitment to implement the recommendations on safeguarding and Garda vetting and to carry out 
a full review of historic cases.  Scouting Ireland also informed me of its proposals to put new 
structures in place.  

In light of that carrying out of the full review of historical cases, I received information late 
last evening.  It was stated verbally that the following is the case.  Mr. Ian Elliott has been ex-
amining the historical evidence.  He has found evidence of 71 alleged abusers and 108 alleged 
victims.  This is based on his work to date and the numbers may change.  Most of the cases 
occurred between the 1960s and the 1980s but there may be one from an earlier period.   None 
of the alleged abusers is still working with Scouting Ireland.  Reports have been made to Tusla 
and the gardaí in respect of all of the alleged abusers still living.  

As I think the committee is aware, Mr. Elliott had also been engaged by Scouting Ireland 
to conduct a review of its child safeguarding, protection policies and procedures.  An interim 
report was produced in October 2017 and a final report was produced in January 2018, and 
both of these reports were subsequently submitted to my Department in March 2018.  In 2017, 
Scouting Ireland commissioned Mr. Elliott to carry out a case review into the organisation’s 
handling of an allegation of a serious sexual assault on an adult volunteer by another adult vol-
unteer.  While this alleged assault took place in 2009, it was only reported within the organisa-
tion in 2016.  Following on from Mr. Elliott’s report of his review, Scouting Ireland engaged 
an independent barrister to conduct a full investigation into this allegation.  In particular the in-
vestigation would examine the handling of the matter by four senior volunteers, three of whom 
were on the board of Scouting Ireland at the time of Mr Elliott’s report.  I expect to receive both 
reports once the independent barrister’s investigation is completed.

In May, I appointed Ms Jillian van Turnhout, as an independent expert, to examine the 
governance and related issues within Scouting Ireland.  Ms van Turnhout submitted her final 
report to me on 14 June.  It contained a number of recommendations in the areas of safeguard-
ing, management of the organisation, governance proposals and charities regulation.  The report 
suggested that the restoration of funding to Scouting Ireland should be clearly linked to the suc-
cessful implementation of these recommendations.  The board of Scouting Ireland subsequently 
confirmed its decision to fully implement all the recommendations contained in the review of 
the Scouting Ireland report.  On this basis, I decided on 25 June to provide Scouting Ireland 
with interim funding for a further three month period, up until the end of September of this year.
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In providing this interim funding, I requested that Scouting Ireland provide me with a fur-
ther report by 24 September detailing progress in the implementation of the outstanding rec-
ommendations contained in the van Turnhout review of Scouting Ireland.  This report was 
subsequently submitted to me on 24 September for consideration.  At the end of September the 
then board of Scouting Ireland voted to reinstate the Chief Scout as chair of their forthcoming 
emergency general meeting.  This was done notwithstanding the fact that the Chief Scout is a 
respondent in the ongoing independent barrister’s investigation.  I felt that this was unaccept-
able.  Shortly afterwards, I received letters from the then interim chair and Mr. Ian Elliott set-
ting out their serious concerns about the board’s actions and its ability to properly govern the 
organisation.  Having discussed the matter with the interim chair and Mr. Elliott, I decided to 
suspend funding for as long as the then board was in place.

Scouting Ireland held an emergency general meeting on 6 October 2018.  At the meeting, 
all the new governance proposals were passed by over 95% of those in attendance.  A new ten 
member board was elected following a skills assessment process and they took up their new 
role as of midnight on 6 October with the former board resigning from that time.  I have met 
with Ms Annette Byrne, who was acting chairperson during this change process and also with 
the CEO.  I was pleased to learn of the organisation’s commitment to change and good gover-
nance.  A new interim chairperson, Ms Aisling Kelly, has now been appointed along with new 
board members at the emergency general meeting.  I look forward to having a constructive 
working relationship with the new team and the realisation of Scouting Ireland’s ambitions for 
the young people it works with.

To date, I am satisfied with the significant progress made by Scouting Ireland regarding 
implementation of the van Turnhout recommendations and in the essential governance changes 
committed to by the organisation.  For that reason I have restored funding to Scouting Ireland 
until the end of April 2019.  I have requested a further progress report from the organisation by 
the end of March 2019 as well as copies of the independent barrister’s report and the final report 
by Ian Elliott of the individual case review he conducted.  I will review the funding arrangement 
again at that stage.

Chairman: I thank the Minister for her opening statement.  I think there is one pertinent 
question to ask before I open the floor to members.  It is a question for both the Minister and 
Scouting Ireland concerning the likely presentation of the independent barrister’s review to 
them.  My second question is whether the report will be made available to the committee.  It is 
important that we would have oversight of the report given its importance to the organisation 
in the context of the various goings on over the past 12 months.  I invite Deputy Rabbitte to 
contribute.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: I thank the Minister very much for her presentation this morning.

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: Excuse me for interrupting.  Do you wish me to respond to 
your questions, Chairman?

Chairman: The Minister may, that might be helpful.  I apologise to Deputy Rabbitte.

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: I have requested that Scouting Ireland would provide me 
with the reports prior to a reconsideration of the full restoration of funding in 2019.  I note your 
request on behalf of the committee, Chairman.

Chairman: I thank the Minister.
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Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: I thank the Minister for her presentation but I will focus on what 
she did not say in it, and on what she just said.  She referred to information that came to her 
last night.  That is probably the most shocking part of her entire presentation this morning.  It 
is probably too soon to ask where the Department sits in relation to funding.  I will be asking 
Scouting Ireland later whether any of the 71 alleged abusers are currently in the network or 
were when Mr. Elliott was carrying out his review.  Based on that, what is the position with 
funding?  It all goes back to governance, standards and transparency.  I supported the Minister 
when she suspended the funding last September.  She did the right thing.  What is the situation 
now with Scouting Ireland in terms of support from the Department?

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: The Deputy will have the opportunity to raise some of those 
questions with Scouting Ireland subsequent to my testimony.  Based on the verbal information I 
have received, my understanding is that none of the alleged abusers is still working with Scout-
ing Ireland.

As Deputy Rabbitte is aware from what I said in the presentation, one of the reports Mr. 
Elliott was asked to do by the organisation on safeguarding and Garda vetting recommended 
that a historical analysis of cases would be carried out and that is currently under way.  The 
information I provided to the committee this morning comes out of the process of doing a piece 
of work the organisation asked Mr. Elliott to do.  My understanding is that the work is not yet 
completed.  I am in the process of continuing to review whether to fully restore funding to the 
organisation.  The information I received yesterday and the additional information that will be 
available on completion of the report will be integral to the assessment of the restoration of 
funding.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: of course.  I thank the Minister.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: I welcome the Minister here today.  She has given us some very 
devastating news based on what she heard late last night.  We heard that there are 71 alleged 
abusers historically and 108 survivors that we know about.  It is pertinent for us to empathise 
with the fact that there are potentially more than 108 people out there who are potentially trau-
matised by their experiences.  When Mr. Elliott came before us on 9 May he gave an undertak-
ing that he would look at the historical cases pre-2003 and the review has come up with that 
devastating news.

In light of this news very late last night I want to get an understanding of the Minister’s in-
teraction with the new board in terms of how she and the Department will deal with it.  Is it the 
case that all bets are now off regarding future funding until such time as the situation is clarified 
and rectified?  Notwithstanding what I have said, I should add a proviso to the effect that 99.9% 
of those involved in Scouting Ireland are honest, decent volunteers who are doing an excellent 
job and will be devastated by the news.  They  will be traumatised by this as well and they will 
want the funding to continue.  How do we find a mechanism to ensure that scouting continues 
and that the new board, which we wish well and which has been given a clean slate, can operate 
and that we find a mechanism to deal with the historical issues and also ensure that scouting 
can continue safely and without any cloud hanging over it?  The Minister’s human response 
will perhaps give some solace to people who are honest and decent and who constitute the vast 
majority of scouters, their parents and friends.  We need to hear from her on how it is intended 
to deal with the issue.

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: I thank Deputy Sherlock for his very heartfelt and helpful 
question.  He is correct that it is devastating.  As Minister, I find it extremely distressing to have 
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received the information I have at present.  I have been assured that none of the alleged abusers 
is currently still working with Scouting Ireland.  I have also been told that reports have been 
made to Tusla and to the Garda in respect of the alleged abusers who are still living.  I will be 
listening carefully to the Scouting Ireland testimony that the committee will receive this morn-
ing.  I will engage with the Chair as a matter of urgency.

I will examine where we are right now in terms of the funding decisions that I have already 
made.  I also acknowledge the extraordinary work that does go on within the organisation, 
which I have seen at first hand throughout the country.  I want to assure people that I will con-
tinue to support that work and the work involved in supporting the children and young people 
and also the volunteers given how important that is.  At the same time, we have been given this 
information and also other information.  I am waiting still for a couple of outstanding reports.  
My officials and I are working closely with Scouting Ireland.  We are monitoring the situation 
and trying to understand it and looking for the best way to proceed in this regard.  The funding 
has not been fully restored in the same way that it has been before, so this is happening in the 
context of that decision.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: A lot of our focus in the main meeting of the committee was on the 
barrister’s report on the alleged event that took place in 2009.  This new information is shock-
ing.

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: I appreciate that.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: I am viscerally shocked by the information we have received to-
day.  I want to get clarity in my own mind that the Minister is satisfied that those files have now 
been sent to the Garda.  Given that the Minister only received the information late last night I 
would like to know what has occurred, procedurally, in the less than 12 hours or so since she has 
been in receipt of the information.  I am sure we will have an opportunity to speak to the board 
in respect of its handling of the issue but I wish to get the Minister’s perspective.

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: I have been assured by both the CEo of Scouting Ireland and 
Mr. Ian Elliott that those files have been sent to Tusla and the Garda Síochána.

Chairman: Before I call Senator Freeman, I have a number of questions.  Will the Minister 
repeat the two figures?  Am I correct that there were 71 perpetrators?

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: There were 71 alleged abusers and 108 alleged victims.  The 
figures are based on the work to date and numbers may change.

Chairman: That is understood.  Deputy Sherlock made a reference to the fact that Mr. El-
liott has referred to this before in the review of the documents held by the organisation.  Is the 
Minister aware of the most recent date of an alleged incident of abuse of a child in the organisa-
tion?

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: The only information I have is that there are cases between 
the 1960s and the 1980s.  I will be listening carefully to the next set of decisions.

Senator  Joan Freeman: One of my questions is similar to one asked by Deputy Sherlock.  
When Mr. Elliott spoke to the Minister last night, did he outline a procedure to put in place a 
protocol for the victims?  Is action on funding the only punitive measure the Department wishes 
to consider to deal with this revelation?
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As the Minister said there are 50,000 members of Scouting Ireland.  Is just withdrawing 
funds the totality of what the Department?  Are there other ways of putting a stop to this be-
haviour because the Department only got the information last night?  While the withdrawal of 
funding is important and is evidence of the serious concern of the Department of Children and 
Youth Affairs, would it not stop the implementation of the suggestions made by Ms Jillian van 
Turnhout?

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: I think the Senator has asked very helpful questions.  People 
may come forward who need support and my understanding is that there are policies and pro-
cedures and supports for victims who come forward in the organisation.  It is important to take 
a look at that again and to review it.

As the Senator is aware, we have been very focused on the governance of the organisation.  
I asked Ms van Turnhout to examine Scouting Ireland and make recommendations.  The rec-
ommendations have been strongly made.  The board has put in place an implementation plan.  
one of the key aspects of the recommendations is the resignation of the last board and the ap-
pointment of a new board based on the skills and competencies of board members and the 95% 
agreement of the whole organisation to follow through on the implementation of those recom-
mendations with new leadership in the context of governance.  Those actions come as a result 
of the work of my Department to ensure that we are moving forward into a different area.  It is 
a very difficult time for the organisation.  There are a lot of things that need to be done.  There 
are more ways in which they will need to respond in light of the information I have just shared.  
I will be discussing these issues with the chief executive and the board as a matter of urgency.

Chairman: As the members have expressed, we are clearly shocked.  The Minister has 
expressed her shock.  Does the Minister have confidence in the organisation?  Admittedly these 
allegations date from the 1960s-1980s, and the committee has no evidence of other incidents 
with the exception of the 2006 case, which is under review, and was subject to a nolle prosequi 
by the DPP.

Does the Minister have confidence in the organisation, having learned from this experience?  
There have been governance changes - the board and Chairman have changed - but, further to 
Senator Freeman’s query, is funding the only means by which the Minister can make the organi-
sation sit up and provide information in a timely manner to the authorities, not just to Tusla and 
the Garda Síochána but to the Department, as primary funders of the organisation?

I do not want to diminish the significance of the figures the Minister has given to us.  Is any 
of the alleged perpetrators or victims deceased?  We have been told by the Minister that none is 
currently in the organisation.  Is the State aware of the names of these individuals?  In the case 
of the alleged perpetrators, is this the first instance in which any complaint has been made about 
them?  Are the Garda Síochána or Tusla aware of the names of the individuals?  I appreciate 
that the Minister has only been made aware of this in the past 12 hours or so.  Are the alleged 
perpetrators of crimes in the 1960s-1980s still active in any organisation with children or young 
people?  I think these pertinent questions should be given an airing.

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: It is true that I too am shocked by the figures.  As I said, I 
find it deeply distressing.  I am also aware of the fact that some of the alleged victims could be 
listening to what we are discussing right now.  I am deeply upset about that as  I cannot imagine 
what they must be going through.  I hope that the actions that my Department and I are taking 
and the actions of my colleagues are in the best interest of the organisation.  We are doing every-
thing we can to ensure ultimately there will be opportunities for them to go through a different 
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process of healing.  I hope for some of them that healing has already taken place but we are so 
aware of the fact that an integral aspect of that process is an acknowledgement.  

As I said I have information of alleged victims.  It is important that we are able to have this 
knowledge now and that the knowledge is interrogated and investigated.  As I have said already, 
I too will be listening carefully to what the evidence provides and we will continue that conver-
sation with the organisation to follow it up.

It is important to say in this context of people wondering whether children are safe in Scout-
ing Ireland that I have been assured by the former interim chairperson, Ms Annette Byrne and 
also Mr. Ian Elliott, who is the child safeguarding expert, that the vast majority of volunteers 
involved in Scouting Ireland do an excellent job.    I assure Deputies, Senators and parents that 
all the actions I have taken were a response to bad governance and were in no way connected 
to the fantastic work being carried out by scout groups, leaders and volunteers throughout the 
country.  I have been assured they are committed to and compliant with the highest possible 
level of safeguarding standards. 

The Chairman and Senator Freeman asked if funding was the only measure.  I have outlined 
the other actions and measures we are taking to ensure the organisation is supported to move 
beyond this period.  We have a new board as a result of the report of the independent reviewer 
who made recommendations which the organisation followed.  The board is in place to take the 
next steps needed to ensure the safety and proper responses to information coming forward now 
about the organisation.  

Deputy  Denise Mitchell: I thank the Minister for coming in.  I looked over her statement 
last night and thought it was very positive and then we were hit with a bombshell today.  There 
is very little we can discuss about it.  How soon does the Minister hope to meet the board to 
discuss this sad and distressing news?  I was going to ask the Minister questions about it but 
I do not know if it is appropriate to do so now.  According to Scouting Ireland, Mr. Ian Elliot 
indicated the organisation was under-resourced with regard to safeguarding.  Does the Minister 
think we may have to consider increased funding?  How many of the recommendations from 
Ms van Turnhout’s report have been implemented?  Is there a timeframe for implementation of 
all the recommendations?

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: I will be writing a letter to the interim chairman today to seek 
an urgent meeting.  On the funding issue, it needs to be considered.  That is what I will say right 
now.  One of the areas that I am particularly concerned about in light of the revelations is that 
the organisation is supported or resourced enough to provide support to alleged victims.  on the 
question about how many of the recommendations have been implemented, we have 13 recom-
mendations from the report and all are in the process of implementation.

Deputy  Tom Neville: I want to put on record my reaction to what I heard this morning.  
Like every other member of the committee, I am aghast at what has come out.  It is important 
to note there were procedures, reviews and examinations to identify this information.  I will 
try to phrase this as well as I can.  I welcome that the information has been found and that it is 
coming out.  I do not welcome that it happened.  It is important we continue with our examina-
tions to extract the truth and that we get the likes of this out in the open.  We should deal with it 
through Government channels and also put measures into practice to ensure we mitigate against 
this kind of behaviour and that it is identified extremely quickly if it happens in the future.  The 
Utopian view is that it should never happen.  We have to put all necessary procedures in place 
to ensure it does not.  I will be waiting to hear the update from our next witnesses.  I thank the 
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Minister for her contribution and for answering questions.  I will not repeat questions that have 
been asked already.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: As I was the lead questioner, I was a little bit taken aback by all 
the information I heard.  I have only processed certain things.

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: I appreciate that.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: How many files from the 1960s to the 1980s did Mr. Elliot inves-
tigate?  Was that information given to the Minister?  The last time Mr. Elliot appeared before 
the committee he told us more than 500 files were in a safe room and were handed over to him.  
I am trying to do the maths.  It would be nice to know how many files he investigated from that 
period.

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: The committee will receive that information from Mr. Elliot 
when members have the opportunity to ask him that question.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: I thank the Minister.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: If the Minister is telling us there are 71 alleged abusers and that 
there are 108 victims, is it fair to assume it is only a sample?  I am making that assumption 
and I could be wrong.  I would like to be corrected or educated on whether that is the case.  If 
it is only a sample, the question then arises as to whether the Minister or Department has been 
informed about whether this is representative of a much larger figure that is under investigation.

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: I will answer that as best I can with the information I have.  
The use of the term “sample” may not be quite correct although I appreciate what the Deputy 
is saying.  I understand there is a process happening and that these are the numbers that have 
surfaced so far.  That is why I indicated it is based on the work to date and that the numbers 
may change.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: To try to assist my understanding of this, is it safe to assume that 
in Larch Hill, there are a number of files in addition to the numbers we are talking about here 
today?

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: I cannot answer that question.  I cannot say whether it is safe 
to assume that.  What I do know is the numbers could change.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: It is pertinent to this because what it means is that what the Minis-
ter is presenting us with today - to speak to the Minister’s bona fides - is that the figures she has 
articulated to us are exactly the number articulated to her as Minister.

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: That is correct.

Senator  Joan Freeman: I know the Minister only received the figures last night and is just 
as much in the dark as everybody else.  My fear is that when this becomes public there will be 
vast numbers of victims.  The answer is probably “No, not yet,” but will there be a protocol 
ready to handle the impact of this information?

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: I thank the Senator for the question.  We could assume it is 
public now.

Senator  Joan Freeman: Yes.
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Deputy  Katherine Zappone: The Senator’s question is excellent.  I had the opportunity to 
speak with members of the organisation before coming into the committee room.  They are fully 
aware of the implications of this.  They have had procedures and practices in place in the past.  
They know they will possibly need to change to ensure that ultimately they have the capacity 
for supporting, listening and hearing the people who will step forward.

Senator  Joan Freeman: I will leave it at that.

Chairman: Before I let Deputy Rabbitte back in, I will ask a difficult question which the 
Minister may not be able to answer.  This may be a difficult question and the Minister may not 
be able to answer it.  I am thinking of other revelations of child sex abuse in the past.  When 
figures of 71 alleged perpetrators and 108 victims are presented, it is clear that multiple children 
were subjected to abuse by the same individual.  Has the Minister been presented with any evi-
dence thus far of that sort of concentration?  Is one individual responsible for multiple alleged 
incidents?  Did the information presented to the Minister last night allude to any location or 
locations in which these incidents allegedly took place?  Would it be pertinent at this point to 
put that into the public domain?

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: I do not have that level of detail.  It is important to say that 
I have been told that reports have been made to Tusla and An Garda Síochána in respect of any 
of the alleged abusers who are still living.  That has happened.

Chairman: Does the Minister have any idea of the number of individuals who are still 
alive?

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: I have not been provided with that.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: This is not a question but a statement of fact.  When I was travel-
ling to the Oireachtas yesterday morning I got a phone call.  It was an unknown number and I 
just managed to answer it.  It is important to put on the record what was said.  A gentleman who 
was one of the 108 called me.  I was a bit taken aback.  He proceeded to tell me about the trauma 
of his life for the last several years.  On the flip side, he also told me about the intervention he 
has received in the last several months because his was one of the files that was investigated.  
He wanted to say that he was eternally grateful for the opportunity to benefit from the coun-
selling and support he has received.  He believes it has been a game-changer for his life.  It is 
important to mention the support for the victims of abuse that is coming to light.  The Minister 
is right.  People are watching and listening to us this morning.  It is important to say that this 
man is totally grateful for the support he has experienced.  He asked me not to identify him, but 
to put on the record that he is grateful for the support he has received from the people he has 
engaged with within Scouting Ireland.

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: I thank the Deputy for providing his testimony.  As Deputy 
Rabbitte says, it is really important to put that into the conversation today and acknowledge it 
is happening.  I am consoled to hear that.

Senator  Joan Freeman: This is also a statement.  I brought this up before the meeting 
started this morning.  I too have been contacted by somebody who is very grateful, not neces-
sarily to counsellors, but to the staff of Scouting Ireland.  Obviously some mechanism is now in 
place that is allowing the staff to handle these queries and to handle the victims.

Deputy  Katherine Zappone: I thank the Senator.  I wish to note two things.  One is that 
it is really good to hear the Senator bearing witness to the testimony that she has heard in the 
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context of what we are doing this morning.  This also indicates the importance of the work the 
committee does.  The fact that its members are public representatives and able to receive that 
information really helps this process to move forward.  I want to acknowledge that.

Chairman: I thank the Minister.  That concludes the first part of our meeting.

  Sitting suspended at 10.45 a.m. and resumed at 10.48 a.m.

Chairman: I welcome members and viewers who may be watching proceedings on Oireach-
tas TV to the public session of the Joint Committee on Children and Youth Affairs.  on behalf 
of the committee I welcome Ms Aisling Kelly, interim chairperson and non-executive direc-
tor of Scouting Ireland; Dr. John Lawlor, chief executive officer of Scouting Ireland; Ms Lisa 
Barnes, non-executive director of Scouting Ireland; Mr. Adrian Tennant, non-executive director 
of Scouting Ireland; and Mr. Ian Elliot, independent safeguarding consultant.

I draw the attention of witnesses to the fact that by virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the Defa-
mation Act 2009, witnesses are protected by absolute privilege in respect of their evidence to 
the committee.  However, if they are directed by the committee to cease giving evidence on 
a particular matter and they continue to so do, they are entitled thereafter only to a qualified 
privilege in respect of their evidence.  They are directed that only evidence connected with the 
subject matter of these proceedings is to be given and they are asked to respect the parliamen-
tary practice to the effect that, where possible, they should not criticise or make charges against 
any person, persons or entity by name or in such a way as to make him, her or it identifiable.  

Members are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that they 
should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside the House or an of-
ficial either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.

I ask witnesses to switch off their mobile telephones or put them on flight mode, as they in-
terfere with the sound system, make it difficult for reporters to report our meeting and adversely 
affect our television coverage.  I advise witnesses that any submission or opening statement they 
have provided to the committee will be published to the committee website after this meeting.  
After their presentation I imagine there will be a significant number of questions for witnesses. 

Ms Aisling Kelly: I thank the Chairman.  I wish to clarify the position concerning my title 
before I deliver my opening statement.  On 7 October, the first date on which the new board 
met, I was appointed interim chair.  At the next meeting I was elected to the position of chair 
by the board of directors.

Chairman: I thank Ms Kelly for that clarification.

Ms Aisling Kelly: I thank the committee for inviting Scouting Ireland to appear before it 
again.  I have been an adult scout volunteer for 23 years.  Previously I was a youth member of 
Girl Guiding from the age of 9.

I am accompanied by Mr. Adrian Tennant, director of Scouting Ireland, Ms Lisa Barnes, 
director of Scouting Ireland, who resides in Northern Ireland, Dr. John Lawlor, CEO of Scout-
ing Ireland and Mr. Ian Elliott, an independent safeguarding consultant, who has been working 
with us as the interim safeguarding manager. 

I want to tell members about the progress Scouting Ireland has made since the last time the 
organisation appeared before the committee on 9 May 2018 and I also want to outline the chal-
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lenges we face.  When we last appeared before this committee, an apology was offered for the 
hurt that has been caused as a result of poor practice on the part of those involved in scouting.  
Some of this occurred many years ago but the effects are still causing distress today.  I want to 
reiterate that apology and add to it our sincere regret for what has happened, and our absolute 
determination to learn from those mistakes and make Scouting Ireland today as safe an envi-
ronment as we can create for all of our members.  To that end, we have made many positive 
changes in our structure and our approach to governance.  

The committee will recall that previously Mr. Martin Burbridge was present in his capacity 
as the head of the governance review group, which was the group responsible for designing and 
recommending governance changes within Scouting Ireland.  At that time, the company, Scout-
ing Ireland Services CLG, and the unincorporated association, Scouting Ireland, were run as 
one entity.  The company’s board and the association’s national management committee were 
populated by the same people.  There was no non-executive board which one would expect to 
find in a company of this size.  The executive and non-executive were enmeshed.   

I am very happy to report that this is no longer the case.  The company and the associa-
tion, on 6 October 2018, voted overwhelmingly, nearly 99%, in favour of radical governance 
change.  This was a monumental decision for the organisation, heavily debated and examined 
by the membership in minute detail.  Our youth members were instrumental on that day and 
I am delighted to say that it reflects how informed our organisation is by its youth-led ethos.  
This decision was taken against the backdrop of the highly sensitive safeguarding investigation 
being carried out by independent barrister, Ms Lorna Lynch.  However, despite requiring the 
high threshold of a 75% majority, the membership at the EGM on 6 October 2018 showed great 
determination in voting for a new future for Scouting Ireland.  It will be a new era of openness, 
integrity, transparency and, most important, accountability.  

The unincorporated association is in the process of being wound down and we have in-
structed solicitors in this regard.  The assets and liabilities of that entity will be transferred to 
the company.  Residual accounts which are held there will also be transferred to the company.  
There will be no renewal of membership in that association from January 2019.  The member-
ship of Scouting Ireland now resides in the company in the form of the individual scout groups.  
The governance documents which reflect the relationship between the scout groups and the 
company are clear in what each entity expects of each other.   

I am glad to inform the committee that, since 6 October 2018, the new board has been 
extremely busy.  It took office earlier than originally envisaged under the governance review 
group proposals but has hit the ground running.  It has met 15 times in seven weeks, averaging 
two meetings a week, one by teleconference and one face-to-face.  The ten members of this 
board, three of whom are present today, are dedicated and committed to steering the company 
into a new era of transparency and one where safeguarding of children and adults is our number 
one priority.  Scouting Ireland commits to making the organisation a safe environment for all 
of our members.   

As recommended in the Jillian van Turnhout report, safeguarding is now a standing item 
on our agenda.  The board has had the benefit of two detailed briefings from Mr. Ian Elliott in 
relation to the current and historic situations which we now face into.  It is apparent from the 
ongoing review of past practice being carried out by Mr. Elliott at the behest of the board that 
there is evidence of past abuse emerging from the former organisations that merged to form 
Scouting Ireland some 16 years ago.  Unfortunately, this is the situation, as with so many other 
organisations in this country’s history, but Scouting Ireland is working hard to establish the full 
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extent of the knowledge that exists in relation to that abuse.  That is a process which takes time 
and space in order to gather an accurate picture.  No adult volunteer wants to hear that of their 
organisation which forms more than a hobby for them, but rather a way of life.  Personally, as 
a mother of two very young children, this fills me with deep sadness. 

I want to say categorically that Scouting Ireland is committed to providing support and help 
to all victims of past abuse within Scouting Ireland and is looking to include this in our policy 
framework.  The committee should be assured that this new board of oversight will meet this 
situation with integrity, compassion and dedication.   

It has been highlighted by Mr. Ian Elliott that Scouting Ireland is under-resourced with 
regard to safeguarding. The board has some work to do on scoping out what the these new re-
sources will look like, how key people will be needed with new skills.  This work is not just crit-
ically important, it is highly specialist and expert.  I would ask all members of this committee 
to have regard for what Scouting Ireland is trying to achieve in ensuring a comprehensive and 
compassionate response to those who were so badly wronged in the past.  We look forward to a 
discussion with the Minister in the future about how these resources can be sustainably funded.  

As an indicator of how much of a priority this is for the new board, I can inform the com-
mittee that just this week we have advertised for a safeguarding manager in the national and 
international press.  The recruitment of an experienced and independently minded individual 
is a key priority for the new board.  Indeed, when we last appeared before this committee, we 
reported that we were in the process of implementing the recommendations of Mr. Ian Elliott in 
ensuring that the safeguarding team is made up of professional members of staff.  I am happy 
to report that we are working hard to achieve this.  

In addition to ensuring that safeguarding is resourced and supported within the organisation, 
the new board has made another priority in the enactment of new policies relating to dispute 
resolution and disciplinary procedures.  These policies have been externally reviewed by a spe-
cialist employment lawyer and we are happy to report that the board was in a position to ratify 
and adopt them at our meeting on Sunday, 18 November 2018.  The roll-out of these policies 
will ensure that Scouting Ireland develops a culture of consequence.  The position of the adult 
volunteer must always be that he or she serves as a volunteer for the furtherance of the develop-
ment of young people.  Positions of responsibility over young people, and fellow adults, are a 
privilege, not a right.  We, after all, are adults who agree, by thought, word and deed, to be a 
positive influence to young people.  

Scouting Ireland welcomes the ongoing discussions with the Department of Children and 
Youth Affairs.  As the committee is aware we met with the Secretary General and members 
of his staff on 24 October 2018.  We had a detailed and constructive meeting, where I and Dr. 
Lawlor and two others briefed the Secretary General as to the governance changes within the 
organisation.  The officials in the Department with whom we have been working are supportive 
and encouraging and we greatly appreciate the Department walking the walk with us this past 
year.  Scouting Ireland welcomes the restoration of funding from the Minister as announced on 
30 october 2018 and sincerely thanks the Minister in that regard.   

We are an organisation which welcomes oversight.  There has been concrete progress on 
implementing the recommendations of Jillian van Turnhout and I am glad to be able to report 
that substantial progress has been made on these recommendations and reported to the Depart-
ment to its satisfaction.   We are also in the process of ongoing engagement with the Charities 
Regulatory Authority and our next meeting is on 10 December 2018.  We welcome the publica-
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tion of the new governance code for charities which was published on 7 November 2018 and 
are committed to full compliance with this code.  

Lastly, we value your interest and oversight as the Oireachtas Joint Committee on Children 
and Youth Affairs.  We hope that some of our younger members watching this on TV look 
at each of you as role models and understand the important responsibility you have in being 
prepared to hold organisations and individuals to high standards.  It is a significant role which 
allows us the opportunity for self-examination and reflection.  We welcome all support and 
constructive feedback.  The new board genuinely thanks the committee members in this regard.

Chairman: Before I invite Senator Freeman to question the group, I think, in light of the 
Minister’s revelations to us, that it might be helpful to frontload some comments on those rev-
elations both from the chair, Ms Kelly, and Mr. Elliott.  Perhaps they might like to say a few 
words on that matter.  It is of such significance that it should not be skipped over.

Ms Aisling Kelly: I am distressed to learn of the depth of the behaviour to which the past 
organisations of Scouting Ireland were witness.  Mr. Ian Elliott, who has conducted the review, 
is in a position to comment further.

Mr. Ian Elliott: I am happy to add some further detail to the information that has already 
been shared with the committee.  When I came before the committee on 9 May, I made refer-
ence to the fact that I was concerned about the situation that I believed existed in relation to 
the past practice of the scouting organisations which now form part of Scouting Ireland.  On 
this occasion, it is important I share with the committee the knowledge that I have at this point.  
Although it is dark, I emphasise that this is the information that I have at this time.  There is 
knowledge of 71 alleged sex offenders and 108 alleged victims.

It is important for the committee to understand that this information has come from a num-
ber of sources.  It has not been simply acquired through a reading of the documentation that 
exists within the organisation.  Obviously, there is information there that has contributed to 
that, but it has also come from two other important sources.  One source is personal memory 
and recollection of individuals within the organisation who have shared with me concerns and 
knowledge stemming from many years back which has not been properly bottomed out.  Also, 
importantly, it has been derived from victims, people who have come forward, spoken to us and 
shared with us what their experience has been.  That is happening in increasing numbers.  There 
are an increasing number of people who are coming forward and talking directly to us.  The 
reason they say they are doing so is that they have confidence in the process and confidence that 
they will be listened to, believed and helped.

The figure of 108 victims is an important one.  I want members to think of that, not in 
numerical terms but in human terms.  That is 108 people who have suffered and are suffering 
today as a result of being exposed to situations to which they should never have been exposed.  
It is important for me to confirm to the committee that the new board of Scouting Ireland has 
impressed on me its absolute commitment to responding to those individuals with compassion 
and concern and to helping them in every way that it possibly can.  That is what we are seeking 
to do.

I do not believe the figures I am sharing with the committee at this time will be the final 
figures.  I believe the numbers will increase.

I will provide a significant detail that the committee needs to be aware of because a question 
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was asked when the Minister spoke with regard to how many of the individuals of whom we are 
aware had multiple victims.  There are 14 such individuals.

The committee is also concerned to ensure that the reporting requirements in relation to all 
of those individuals have been met. I can assure members that that is the case.  The majority of 
the alleged offenders are deceased.  Those who are alive have been reported to the appropriate 
authorities in the jurisdiction in which they are located because Scouting Ireland is an all-island 
body and they are not all located within the Republic.  Some are in Northern Ireland and some 
are overseas.  We do not know at this time what all those, among this group of individuals, who 
are alive today are currently doing.  What we know is that they are not in scouting.  We have 
reported to the appropriate authorities who they are but we do not track those individuals as we 
do not have that capacity.

Senator Freeman asked what protocol applies in relation to victims who are coming for-
ward.  Since the new board came into being on 7 October last, considerable progress has been 
made from my perspective in handling and dealing with the difficult issues that arise from this 
matter.  I proposed to the new board that it adopt a victims’ policy for Scouting Ireland which 
simply sets out the board’s commitment to victims, the responses that should be made and how 
those should be monitored.  The board has agreed to do that and is in the process of adopting 
that policy.  I believe it will shortly become part of the policy framework.  That is a considerable 
step forward and I compliment the board on that.

There is an issue about the resources that are required to ensure that every victim who 
comes forward and speaks to us is responded to in an appropriate way.  The work is not only 
time-consuming but also emotionally demanding.  Experience and skill are required to do it ef-
fectively.  I have shared with the board and also the CEO, Dr. Lawlor, my concern with regard 
to the capacity of the organisation to respond.  However, I have absolutely no doubt that the 
commitment is there.  As the committee will possibly be aware, I have a fair amount of experi-
ence of working with organisations that have a difficult and bad history in this area.  One meets 
with a variety of approaches but what the new board of Scouting Ireland is doing is stating that 
it is owning this problem, not denying it, and that it wants to accept that it has happened, deal 
with that reality and reach out to those who have been hurt and harmed in a compassionate and 
effective way.  I have been offered all the support the board can provide in order to do that.  That 
is an important message to take to the committee.

Senator  Joan Freeman: Ms Kelly’s distress is almost palpable and members also feel 
great distress for the thousands of members of Scouting Ireland.  I am sure the new board, the 
staff of the organisation and the volunteers have a difficult and challenging time ahead.

We were told by the Minister for Children and Youth Affairs, Deputy Zappone, that she was 
advised last night about the 71 perpetrators and 108 victims.  Did Mr. Elliott have that informa-
tion before last night?

Ms Kelly stated that Scouting Ireland has created a policy to help anybody who telephones 
or gets in contact with the organisation.  Will our guests talk me through that?  Policy is one 
thing but I want to know what happens on a day-to-day basis.  Are people informing Scouting 
Ireland about what happened to them and how they are doing?

Capacity is another issue.  The figures related to the terrible experiences of some members 
of Scouting Ireland have been revealed today.  These revelations will probably encourage other 
victims to make contact.  What capacity does the organisation have to contain or handle that?
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Mr. Ian Elliott: The Senator has asked important questions and I will do my best to provide 
her with the answers that are available to me.  I emphasise that I am conscious of the fact that 
when I last came before the committee and spoke about this issue, I did so in terms that may 
have conveyed to members that I thought this was a serious situation.  It is not until one has the 
evidence that the situation becomes real.  I can give the numbers to members but I need them 
to think of the human cost that is involved.  Very significant human suffering has taken place 
and has been part of the history of those who have been involved in scouting.  I know that is 
an unpleasant message and that many people will be very shocked.  The way to deal with it, 
however, is to own up to it and face it, not to deny it.  That is important.  

Senator  Joan Freeman: We are aware of that.  The question I asked, though-----

Mr. Ian Elliott: No, relatively.

Senator  Joan Freeman: -----was whether Mr. Elliot had information before the Minister 
was informed yesterday evening.

Mr. Ian Elliott: The numbers have changed very recently.  I chose today’s meeting as being 
the appropriate medium to introduce the information into the public domain.

Senator  Joan Freeman: I ask Mr. Elliot to address my question on capacity and talk me 
through the protocol that is in place.

Mr. Ian Elliott: I will try to do both.  Our capacity is limited, which is a concern to me and 
one about which I have spoken to the board and others.  It is limited not just by the issue of 
dealing with the past but also the issue of making sure that what is happening currently is dealt 
with in an effective and efficient way.

Ms Kelly made the committee aware of the fact that we have placed an advertisement for a 
safeguarding manager, and that is an excellent start.  I hope that advertisement will be success-
ful and I also hope other advertisements, which we will require for case officers to strengthen 
the safeguarding resources that are available to us at this time, will be successful.

Senator  Joan Freeman: My next question is for Dr. Lawlor in his capacity as chief execu-
tive officer.  Scouting Ireland is being contacted by people daily.  How are his staff handling that 
and are they receiving support, given that this must be distressing for them?

Dr. John Lawlor: The information given today and the hurt that has been caused to people 
over decades is a source of great personal distress to me.  A point was made about numbers.  
Each number is an individual who has suffered terribly.  That also has an impact on our staff 
who live it on a daily basis.  Our staff are very good people and very human in their response.  I 
was heartened to hear the two testimonies offered in the previous session in regard to the actions 
of staff when working with victims.  That has been my experience of our staff working with 
victims and, more recently, when they had the benefit of the professional guidance provided by 
Mr. Elliott.

There is no gainsaying that we have been badly stretched.  A number of our staff have built 
up experience and received training as designated persons and in counselling services.  We have 
redeployed front-line staff to do this work and plug the gaps.  We have also engaged profes-
sional external counselling support.  The service is stretched now.  Over the past five months, 
our staff have been within days of receiving notice of being laid off, yet they continued to do 
a professional job, particularly in this important area.  Their commitment is undeniable and 
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they will continue to show that commitment.  However, we desperately need to put additional 
resources into this area.

The Senator is right.  I believe the information placed before the committee today was cor-
rect.  It was important that we did that today.  The move will encourage more victims to come 
forward, which is healthy.  It is terrible that people have carried this burden without being 
able to reveal it for so many years.  The Senator knows from her own work how that adds to a 
person’s pain.  We will work with people and find the resources to do so.  We look forward to 
engaging with the Minister and her officials to see if they can help us in this matter. 

Senator  Joan Freeman: I thank Dr. Lawlor.

Mr. Ian Elliott: In terms of methodology and, in a practical sense, the support that is of-
fered to the staff involved in this work for whom I am responsible, I am very aware of the 
emotional cost that is involved in being effective in this work.  I provide reflective supervision 
to each member of staff.  That is an absolute guarantee.  If I feel they are being overwhelmed 
by what they are being exposed to, I will withdraw them from that work.  Our staff are very 
dedicated and committed people who have a history in scouting.  It is a great source of distress 
to them that this has happened.  They want to address the issue but, at the same time, I have a 
responsibility to keep them healthy.  I must make sure they do not overstretch themselves be-
cause if they were to do that, they would not be effective in terms of working with the victim.  
Staff must have the capacity and emotional strength to do this work, and not everybody has that.  
Many people cannot do this work.  We must have an ability to respond and we have that ability.

The victims’ policy, which I believe will be adopted shortly, is a great step forward.  It is a 
statement by the organisation that we are committed to this work and which sets out what we 
will do and how we will do it.  It is a value statement and incredibly important.  I praise and 
compliment the organisation on this policy.  In addition, others who have been hurt in the past 
will take great strength from the fact that it is now the policy of the organisation.

Chairman: I will address three issues arising from the information presented to the com-
mittee this morning on the 108 victims of child sex abuse within Scouting Ireland from the 
1960s through to the 1980s.  In the conduct of the cold case review Mr. Elliot has carried out 
in recent months, one of my colleagues has suggested the total number of cases may be 500.  I 
remember that figure being mentioned so I will use it again.  What percentage of the files has 
Mr. Elliot gone through?  I presume he has read them all.  How many files were found to require 
the intervention of An Garda Síochána and in how many cases was it considered appropriate to 
close the file?

Mr. Ian Elliott: These are all closed cases; they are not current.  The majority of the in-
dividuals referred to as alleged perpetrators are deceased.  I cannot stress enough the variable 
quality of the information that exists.  In some cases, one has handwritten notes of a very lim-
ited nature.  It is only through taking on further investigation that one gets an idea of what is 
being referred to.  one of the issues that has come to light is the discovery of a very serious 
perpetrator on whom we did not have a file.  It was a case that was discovered as a consequence 
of a victim coming forward and saying what had happened.  We were not aware, within the or-
ganisation, that the individual in question was a perpetrator.  A simple review of the paperwork 
is only part of the story.  I have already spoken to the board about the work that has to take 
place.  The approach that I would like to follow - I would like to have the time to do it as well - 
is to formally interview a number of people who have memories and experience of those times 
and formally gather information from them, and add to that the victims’ stories to put together 
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a comprehensive knowledge of what took place.  We know it is bad practice.  We know there 
were situations that should have been responded to and were not responded to in a proper way, 
and although the perpetrators may be dead, the victims most certainly are not.  Not all of the 
perpetrators are alive.

I do not believe that figure of 108 is a final figure.  When we explore that further, the figure 
will probably rise quite considerably, and possibly as a consequence of what we have today, it 
will rise further.

Ms Aisling Kelly: In relation to victims, it is a situation where that expertise begets con-
fidence.  In the short time that we have had the benefit of Mr. Elliott with the organisation, 
one can see that there is a dramatic response by victims to that because they see that there is 
someone there and a team in place that have the appropriate training to deal with this.  We are 
stressing to the committee that it is expertise that we need because it will allow victims to come 
forward.

Chairman: I have another query on the cold case review.  I assume that either Mr. Elliott 
or An Garda Síochána has been in contact with all of the living victims of child sex abuse.  Ms 
Kelly mentioned the requirement of the organisation to have professionals to handle this so that, 
as Mr. Elliott outlined, the victims coming forward have confidence in the process due to his 
presence, because of his reputation and the fact that this matter is in the public domain.  The 
additional supports that are required within the organisation must be addressed by the Minister.  
Indeed, the Minister has referred to seeking a meeting with Ms Kelly in short order.  I would 
imagine, from an organisational perspective, that Dr. Lawlor will be aware of the numbers of 
staff we are talking about because it is clearly not only one individual.  Given the size of the 
organisation, I do not imagine that would be sufficient.  Would Dr. Lawlor like to put some meat 
on the bones of the particular requirement that Scouting Ireland may have in the future?

Dr. John Lawlor: There has been some scoping of what a dramatically enhanced safe-
guarding capability within Scouting Ireland would look like and it is a quantum difference.  Mr. 
Elliott has been helpful on its elements.  It will require an experienced safeguarding manager 
with a track record in the sector and suitable qualifications.  It will require professional case 
officers with experience of safeguarding, investigation and support of victims.  It will require 
significant additional administrative support.  It will require the engagement of sessional offi-
cers to deal with cases - these would be external professionals we would engage on a case basis.  
I might ask Mr. Elliott to comment on that.  It is a substantial commitment in terms of the salary 
expenditure that would be involved.

Chairman: Would those individuals be permanent or contracted to the organisation?

Dr. John Lawlor: I would expect that the safeguarding manager, the administrative support 
and the case officers would be permanent.  The sessional officers would be by engagement.  Of 
course, we must be mindful where we are using contracted support that it is in the context of 
observing the confidentiality of this kind of work.  That would apply even down to adminis-
tration.  In trying to alleviate some of the pressure on us in the administration area, we might 
engage contract administration staff but we cannot do that in the safeguarding area, and would 
have to do that in-house.

Mr. Elliott might comment further on the structure I have outlined.  The committee will 
know from those sort of numbers that it requires a fairly substantial investment for the organi-
sation.
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Mr. Ian Elliott: As Dr. Lawlor outlined, we are talking about a substantial amount of re-
sources being channelled towards safeguarding.  I believe that there is the commitment now.  As 
Ms Kelly referred to, I have given two detailed briefings to the new board over the past month.  
I have gone through all of this work in great detail with them.  The first time I met them, I re-
marked to them that I did not trust them, which is probably not a good way to start off.  I did it 
because my experience of previously working with individuals within Scouting Ireland has not 
always been easy and straightforward.  I said: “I will learn to trust you when I see your actions 
give me cause to trust you.”  They were quite taken aback but I have to say that over the course 
of the six weeks or so that they have been in place, on behalf of those people who have been 
hurt as a consequence of having contact with scouting I have been greatly impressed, reassured 
and encouraged.  I now feel that we are in a very different place going forward.

One cannot view the victims as being a homogenous group.  Victims are adults and they 
have a right to their privacy.  They may not want to have any contact with Scouting Ireland 
or anything to do with us, or they may want to have simply very limited contact.  I have been 
contacted by victims, individuals who were in very senior positions in scouting, who simply 
wanted to have a conversation with me so that they could be apologised to and also so that they 
could be reassured that what happened to them mattered to scouting today and that there was 
concern for their situation; that was really important to them.  They were reassured by that and 
they did not want any further contact.  That was it.  That is not an uncommon reaction.  In other 
cases, it is very different.  One is meeting individuals who have been very seriously impacted 
as a consequence of what happened to them and who are still dealing with the trauma they suf-
fered when they were abused at ten or 11 years of age.  In many respects, one is responding to 
and meeting a ten or 11 year old boy who happens to be a middle-aged man with serious life 
difficulties.  That is the human cost that one must always take into account.

The point is Scouting Ireland is a brilliant youth organisation doing a wonderful job but it 
has a responsibility to every young person with whom it comes into contact that it treats him or 
her fairly, with respect and ensures his or her safety at all times.  I believe and have confidence 
in the new board and in the chair, and in the CEO, Dr. Lawlor, that now there is that total com-
mitment to ensure that happens.

Today is, in a sense, a starting off.  We are not hiding anything from the committee.  This is 
what we know and as we know more, we will share that with the committee.  We are not trying 
to deny anything.  This is exactly what the situation is.  We want it known so that we can address 
it and also encourage others who we do not know to come forward and talk to us so that we have 
a full, in-depth understanding and knowledge of what has taken place in the past.

Chairman: On behalf of the committee, I ask that Ms Kelly provide us with the disciplinary 
procedure and, indeed, the victims policy when it is adopted.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: We have made a great deal of progress since the witnesses’ appear-
ance in May.  At that point, there was much that we did not know.  Mr. Elliot had said at that 
stage that records were “kept securely in fireproof filing cabinets in Larch Hill” and the Garda 
and Tusla had been informed about that.  We are a number of months on in the process and we 
have a picture of the number of alleged abusers.  We may not have been presented with a finite 
number but we understand that it is an iterative ongoing process and that the number of victims 
may increase as well.  As he said, there are no files on one or more alleged perpetrators.  

I am satisfied as to the openness of Scouting Ireland’s engagement with us today in ensuring 
that there is confidence on the part of Members present but, most important, on the part of the  
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ordinary decent people who give of their time every day to the organisation and those who fund 
the organisation, namely the taxpayers.

Notwithstanding the devastating numbers of people who are survivors or victims, some of 
whom are deceased, we cannot even imagine on a human level what the survivors are going 
through at present.  It is unconscionable.  We have to have some confidence in the fact that the 
organisation is now, to use its own phrase, “taking ownership” of the issue and that they are 
putting in place a victims policy.  That certainly gives me some confidence.

Is Scouting Ireland making a financial contingency on its books for a number of cases where 
the DPP decides that there is a nolle prosequi with some cases because of insufficient evidence?  
I do not want to presume the outcome here but, for example, there was a recognition in the 
Cloyne diocesan investigation where certain cases came before the court with the same modus 
operandi that on the balance of probabilities etc. that there was enough proof, notwithstanding 
the lack of proof in the book of evidence, and that there should be some form of compensation.  
Is the new board discussing those issues?  I do not expect the board to say that it is but I want 
this issue on the agenda to get some sense from the organisation that it is dealing with that issue.

Ms Aisling Kelly: There are two prongs to that question, one of which is whether the board 
has looked at the reserves of the company and the contingent liabilities that are on the books in 
respect of existing litigation. We have had a full briefing from Dr. Lawlor, the financial officer, 
in on that.  The second part of the question is whether we have considered ring-fencing a reserve 
for a general compensation fund without the need for a victim to go through a litigation process.  
That is something that we will have to explore - I do not want sound like a broken record - but 
finances are an issue for us.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: There are precedents in cases brought to the DPP where nolle 
prosequi was the determination of that office but there was an acknowledgement by the organi-
sation that abuse took place.  Is Scouting Ireland discussing the possibility that some fund will 
be made available for financial compensation or for services to be wrapped around the person 
in question?

Ms Aisling Kelly: on the latter point, money has been ring-fenced to give the necessary 
supports to the victims.  They are being funded for counselling if that is required and for basics 
like travelling to meet people so that none of those act as a bar to victims coming forward and 
engaging with us.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: Is litigation outstanding?

Ms Aisling Kelly: There is litigation.  As with any company, there would always be a pro-
portion of litigation on the books.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: Can Ms Kelly say how many cases are outstanding?

Ms Aisling Kelly: I do not want to deal with the details of that at this point in time.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: But Ms Kelly acknowledges that there are cases outstanding spe-
cifically in respect of alleged abuse.

Ms Aisling Kelly: Yes.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: I would like further engagement with the committee regarding 
progress on those matters.
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The second issue is the complaints policy.  Ms Kelly’s intervention deals with three thematic 
areas: safeguarding; accountability and disciplinary policy.  As a member of this committee, I 
wish the new board well.  The mood music has changed on ensuring that there is a new trans-
parency in how matters are dealt with.  The new board has received a strong mandate from the 
individual members of the scouting organisation.  When it comes to a new disciplinary policy, 
am I correct that the organisation has engaged an employment lawyer who has externally re-
viewed the policies, and that it has adopted new procedures since 18 November?

Ms Aisling Kelly: Yes.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: If there are complaints then, for instance, by a senior member of 
the organisation against an individual, which were registered prior to that, what is the status of 
those complaints now?

Ms Aisling Kelly: We have four live complaints relating to ongoing matters, which are cur-
rently before the disputes resolution appeals panel.  That is the in-house panel, which deals with 
disciplinary matters.  I do not know whether that answer the Deputy’s question.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: It does but only to a certain point, because I am in receipt of corre-
spondence about individuals.  There are outstanding issues that I want to deal with.  There is, for 
instance, a complaint against an individual who is now the subject of a disciplinary procedure 
because he was critical of a senior officer within the organisation.  There are allegations against 
the complainant by a senior officer of the organisation, who has stated in a letter that the com-
plainant has actively supported criticism of him and of his performance of his duties and has 
called for his resignation.  The person who called for the resignation of the senior person is now 
being brought in front of Scouting Ireland under page 11 of the disputes and adults policy, etc.  
When we are members of organisations and put our heads out there, it is likely that people will 
criticise us.  There is a fine line between criticism and something that is actionable or subject 
to a disciplinary procedure.  Has the new board examined whether the four live complaints will 
proceed?  Have they the support of the board?

Ms Aisling Kelly: First, it is not appropriate to comment on live complaints at this point.  
We must have regard to the integrity of the process afforded to the disciplinary appeals panel.  
As a non-executive board, we are also the board of final oversight.  We must have confidence 
in the disputes panel, to which we have devolved responsibility for this matter, to carry out the 
procedures.  If there is a requirement then for an appeal or subsequent attention, we would come 
to any issues completely untainted from knowledge of them.  My opinion and that of the board 
is that must have confidence in our disputes panel to deal with these matters.

The second leg of the question related to whether the board was aware of criticism.  What 
I can say in commenting generally is that I welcome criticism.  It is something that is to be 
supported and encouraged.  It is not that the organisation does not regard the criticism of the 
board or staff members as something to shy away from.  There is a line beyond which, however, 
appropriate criticism becomes perhaps inappropriate criticism, and that is a line to which all 
organisations should have regard.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: I am keen to understand the new structures.  The voluntary board 
is disaggregating itself from the procedures.  Is that correct?

Ms Aisling Kelly: Yes.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: I am suggesting now that this will become a live issue if there are 
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four live complaints.  It is something that Ms Kelly, as chairperson, should have cognisance of 
in respect of the nature of the complaints.  That is all I am saying.  I am keen to keep this in a 
positive vein.

Again, I thank the representatives of Scouting Ireland for coming before the committee.  
We have a clear sense and understanding now of where Scouting Ireland is going, and that is 
important.  I wish to ask about the advertising of the safeguarding manager position.  Ms Kelly 
said the safeguarding manager was advertised in the national and international press.  When 
was that exactly?

Ms Aisling Kelly: The advertisement was loaded on our website on Monday night.  I spoke 
to the operations manager yesterday.  That process is in train.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: Scouting Ireland representatives were before the committee in 
May.  In the time since then, was it the position of the board that Scouting Ireland would have 
an interim position with Mr. Elliot in place and then move to advertising?

Ms Aisling Kelly: Yes, Mr. Elliott was appointed as the interim safeguarding manager.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: I thank Scouting Ireland for the presentation.  I have sat back and 
watched this for the past few months, no more than the witnesses have.  Indeed, it has been go-
ing on almost a year at this stage.  I will surmise what happened and then get into the questions.

My belief is that the lid not only came off but was blown off Scouting Ireland.  The gover-
nance needed dramatic change and cultural change.  Interpersonal difficulties came to the fore 
as well.  A legal quagmire came about.  What was at risk at all times was the main purpose and 
ethos of Scouting Ireland and the 50,000 personnel and young children who were part of Scout-
ing Ireland.  At all times they were caught in a stormy sea through no fault of their own.  They 
were at sea in stormy conditions.  That is why it is important to acknowledge the great work of 
the volunteers and parents who continued to send their children to Scouting Ireland throughout 
this entire process.  It is important to acknowledge the great work of the paid staff who stuck 
with Scouting Ireland through the uncertainty from quarter to quarter over whether funding 
was going to come.  They have to be acknowledged.  For much of this time they were left in a 
stormy sea with little information.

At all times I have taken the view that Scouting Ireland was taking three steps forward and 
then seven steps back.  We must talk about this in the context of last September or October.  
To be honest, I was disgusted about the process that unfolded last September and October.  At 
the time we had an Oireachtas committee meeting at which it was clear that guidelines and a 
process were being set in place.  However, I cannot understand the train of thought that could 
allow a situation in which, one week before an annual general meeting, all of this could unravel 
and put at stake the paid staff jobs and put at risk the parents who continued to support Scout-
ing Ireland and children who continued to attend.  As far as I was concerned, we were facing 
into the abyss at that stage, from which there was no coming back, in the knowledge, because 
we are well informed, that Ian Elliot had received the guts of 500 files from Larch Hill and in 
the knowledge of what was unfolding there.  I believed it was very important that Scouting Ire-
land be kept together for all the reasons set out by the Minister for Children and Youth Affairs, 
Deputy Zappone, this morning.

I am glad to see the report from Ms Kelly this morning.  It is most welcome.  I am warmed 
by what Ian Elliot has said in support of the board.  I am disappointed that it has taken months 
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to have a safeguarding position advertised.  While the matter was in the capable hands of Ian 
Elliot, it would have been important to have the position advertised to show that we were taking 
it seriously and that we were prepared to move forward and to stop having an interim arrange-
ment.  In any event, it is good to see that the post has been advertised.  How long did we leave 
the position vacant?  How long did we not have a full-time person covering that role?  I do not 
want to hear about “interim” or the post being “under the role of the chief executive”.  When 
was the last time Scouting Ireland had a safeguarding officer in place?

After all my surmising, much of this comes back to Mr. Elliot.  I am confused at this stage 
because the Minister harked on about one point but we did not get into it enough because of 
what she said.  I am referring to the independent barrister.  How many times has the board of 
Scouting Ireland met that independent barrister?  Why was that independent barrister assigned 
from the first day?  We do not have any updated information on what is going on there.  What 
was the role of the independent barrister?  I am wondering about it and something out there is 
not sitting right with me because I do not have a report or review from that particular person.

How many cases have gone before the Director of Public Prosecutions, DPP, in the past ten 
years?  We are talking about between 60 and 80 cases and it seems to be back there the whole 
time.  I am talking about here and now.  In the past ten years, how many cases have gone before 
the DPP relating to Scouting Ireland?

The optics around all of this are very important because the optics indicate what we want 
to show in the future.  I realise we have only got to the 1980s with Scouting Ireland files, but 
I want to know whether all the files before 1980 have been assessed.  Is Scouting Ireland still 
going through some of these?  As far as I am concerned, we have a further 30 years of files to 
go through and the 540-odd files that Mr. Elliot would have seen on the first day.  Mr. Elliot 
said that persons are becoming more forthcoming with information but we did not have files on 
them at all.  I want to hear the Scouting Ireland take on it.  Today is 21 November.  Where are 
we at with the whole review?

As far as I am concerned, this has blown wide open.  We know what is going on with Tusla 
on child protection.  We know about mandatory reporting.  Where are we going to get the skill 
set to support the board?  Unless every board member is trained in social care, counselling and 
everything else, we will not get the skill set to do this work.  Will Scouting Ireland keep it all 
in-house to ensure the work is done to its ability?  I am sorry.  I realise I have asked many ques-
tions.

Ms Aisling Kelly: A number of separate issues arise.  First, I acknowledge the thanks of 
Deputy Rabbitte in respect of the thousands of volunteers.  More than 14,500 adult volunteers 
give their time every day.  That number is in excess of the number of gardaí in the country.  My 
husband thinks that I have taken on a second job because, after we put the children to bed, I sit 
down in the evening and work for four hours a night on this.  We have to acknowledge that there 
are thousands of people doing very good work.  The staff in Larch Hill have been exemplary in 
their dedication to Scouting Ireland.

I will address the comments relating to the independent barrister’s report.  I share Deputy 
Rabbitte’s concerns about the response time for the report.  However, this is an independent 
process and the minute we start putting deadlines on it, we will then have a question mark with 
regard to whether or not due process is followed.  It is something we are following up with re-
gard to instructing solicitors and it is a concern of mine.  I can see Deputy Sherlock shaking his 
head.  Perhaps he has a follow-up question.
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Chairman: I will go back to Deputy Sherlock.

Ms Aisling Kelly: Regarding the other matters, perhaps Mr. Elliott could address the issues 
relating to safeguarding.

Mr. Ian Elliott: I will certainly attempt to do that.  There are some questions I cannot an-
swer because I simply do not have the information.  Deputy Rabbitte asked about the indepen-
dent barrister’s report.  Obviously, this is not really a matter on which I can comment but the 
Deputy asked a specific question about how often I met her.  I met her once.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: On one occasion?

Mr. Ian Elliott: Yes.  There is really nothing else I can say beyond saying that I met her 
on one occasion.  With regard to skill sets, I share the Deputy’s concern about where these will 
come from.  Would we keep them all in-house?  We are committed to providing a service and 
we work in partnership with a variety of different voluntary organisations and groups.  If those 
skill sets are available to us from elsewhere and we are unable to get them in-house, we will be 
open to that conversation and to trying to bring those people in.  The concern for us is making 
sure those people who need a service are provided with that service.  I know from experience 
that this is quite specialised work and is not readily available in the marketplace, but it is impor-
tant work.  We will explore all possibilities available to us.  If it means establishing a partner-
ship with another provider, we will do that.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: Was it not the independent barrister who commissioned or re-
quested Mr. Elliott to take up the role he has taken up?  Who requested him to come in to 
perform his-----

Mr. Ian Elliott: The board.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: The board.

Mr. Ian Elliott: The board that preceded the current board asked me if I would be willing 
to act as an interim safeguarding manager, which I have done.  I work on a part-time basis.  I 
work at least two days per week in Dublin and work more hours than that for Scouting Ireland, 
but I am physically present here two days per week.  It is a job that requires a full-time resource 
being available to meet it.  It is not just simply one person.  A safeguarding team is required to 
meet the needs within Scouting Ireland.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: Has Mr. Elliott looked to meet the independent barrister more than 
once?

Mr. Ian Elliott: No.  Obviously, if I was requested to do so, I would.  It is an independent 
process-----

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: All right, that is okay.  Ms Kelly spoke about openness, integrity, 
transparency and accountability.  Does Mr. Elliott feel these qualities are there with regard to 
the procedures in place relating to safeguarding and the people watching this meeting?

Mr. Ian Elliott: Absolutely.  I welcome the opportunity to be able to confirm that again to 
the Deputy.  If I did not feel that this was in place, I probably would not be here.  It has not al-
ways been present with regard to the experiences I have had in working with Scouting Ireland.  
I have had good experiences and experiences that were not very good.  I made it clear to the 
board when I first met it that I needed to be convinced that it was going to do the right thing at 
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the right time for the right reasons.  Although we have only known each other for a short time 
and I have only worked with it for a short time, I have been greatly impressed by its commit-
ment, openness and willingness to accept criticism and what I am saying.  These are not easy 
lessons to learn.  These are all people who have very positive experiences of scouting so they 
think Scouting Ireland is a wonderful organisation, which it is, but they also think that this sort 
of experience does not happen to young people who come to scouting.  I am saying that it does 
happen, has happened and to more than one person, and that Scouting Ireland should accept 
responsibility for that problem, own and deal with it and get it out there so we can move on from 
it.  I have confidence that Scouting Ireland is doing that.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: That is very good.  In respect of the shocking numbers laid before 
us by the Minister earlier this morning, I have a question relating to geographic locations.  Does 
it involve any particular area?

Mr. Ian Elliott: I realise that the information I have given the committee is crude in that 
there is a lot more that needs to be provided to the committee in terms of detail.  What I can say 
and what I have been particularly interested in identifying are locations and activities that seem 
to feature prominently in victims’ stories.  In respect of the victims with whom I have spoken, it 
is obvious that residential camps and jamborees are high-risk activities as far as the victims are 
concerned.  Abuse is frequently reported from those activities.  In a way, it makes sense.  When 
a child or young person is removed from the protective care to which he or she is subject in the 
home environment, that child or young person is more vulnerable and it is harder to put in place 
good signed safeguarding processes for those activities.

It is important to mention that two members of my team were on site for 12 hours every 
day at the jamboree that took place this year in Stradbally.  I was in the background monitoring 
that so there was a very good safeguarding presence at that jamboree, which was a very posi-
tive experience.  Of the 6,000 young people who attended that jamboree, the vast majority had 
a wonderful experience, but we had 16 referrals.  There were 16 or 18 situations that occurred 
within that setting.  The point was that we had the cover and the staff, the staff provided that 
service and those situations were dealt with.  We talked to An Garda Síochána and Tusla.  It was 
dealt with very well.  That is an example.  I am sure all the people who attended the jamboree 
were unaware that during that very positive activity, that number of situations arose, but that is 
the reality.

Chairman: Is Deputy Rabbitte happy with the responses?

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: To be honest, nobody could be happy with that response but that 
is not Mr. Elliott’s fault.

Chairman: It was probably a poor choice of words.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: It is not Mr. Elliott’s fault that I would not be happy to hear that 
there were 16 referrals relating to a jamboree.

Chairman: I might ask a clarifying question because that screams rather unpleasant things.  
Mr. Elliott might be able to clarify matters.  Are we talking about disagreements and fighting or 
are we talking purely about matters of a sexual nature?

Mr. Ian Elliott: Safeguarding concerns do not simply involve sexual abuse.  We are talking 
about the whole range of activities and situations that cause distress and upset to young people, 
some of which can be extreme.  They can involve trying to access alcohol or leaving the site 
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inappropriately.  All these activities are included in that.

Chairman: How many people were at the Stradbally event?

Mr. Ian Elliott: I think it was 6,000.

Chairman: And it was over two nights?

Mr. Ian Elliott: No, not at all.  It was over ten days.

Chairman: And there were 16 referrals?

Mr. Ian Elliott: Yes.  The team was engaged 16 times.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Elliott for that clarification.  Obviously, we have been looking at the 
revelations that have been brought to us this morning.  I have three points to make before I call 
Deputy Sherlock.  Does Ms Kelly envisage that the independent barrister’s report into events 
regarding four members of the scouting organisation will be published when it is produced?

Ms Aisling Kelly: When the document is produced, the board will consider it.  The Minister 
has already asked for a copy and I do not see why she would not be furnished with a copy as 
the board is fully committed to honouring requests of that nature.  It is difficult to speak in the 
abstract about the content of the report but we would have to consider whether there was a need 
for redaction.  We would have to seriously consider its wider publication for the membership 
but my default attitude is for, rather than against, disclosure.

Chairman: I appreciate that.  Is Ms Kelly aware of any procedural issue delaying the pro-
cess through which the report is going?

Ms Aisling Kelly: There is none of which I am aware.  I have requested an update and last 
week I was informed that the delivery of the report was imminent.

Chairman: Scouting Ireland is due to provide the Minister with a progress report on the 
implementation of the Jillian van Turnhout report at the end of March.  Ms Kelly said she was at 
an advanced stage of implementing a number of the 11 measures.  Does she envisage complet-
ing that process before March?

Ms Aisling Kelly: one of the key recommendations relates to the safeguarding manager 
and the closing date for that is 31 December.  We hope to have appointed somebody prior to 31 
March and that would be the last key recommendation.

Chairman: The other ten recommendations will be completed by the end of March.

Ms Aisling Kelly: I would anticipate so, yes.

Chairman: My final question relates to a chief scout, which Scouting Ireland does not have 
at the moment.  Is it envisaged that the organisation will replace the chief scout who left?  Has 
that been discussed at board level?

Ms Aisling Kelly: The chief scout voluntarily stood down from his role in April this year.  
Under the company owning model, the role of the chief scout is considerably different and the 
role is now written into the company’s constitutional documents.  The executive function of the 
chief scout, who would traditionally have been involved in the management of the company, 
has been taken away and the role is more ceremonial, or presidential.  I cannot comment on the 
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role of the current chief scout until the delivery of the report and it would not be appropriate to 
anticipate any of the findings of the report.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: Is Ms Kelly referring to the barrister’s report?

Ms Aisling Kelly: Yes.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: As laypersons looking in on Scouting Ireland, we all want to give 
the organisation a fair wind.  However, in the answers being given today I am hearing that the 
organisation will decide if and when the barrister’s report will be published.  I want to ensure 
that taxpayers’ money is spent wisely and I believe we need to hear something stronger to as-
sure us that there is full transparency around the report.  I do not get a sense of that at the mo-
ment, on account of the time that has passed.

Ms Aisling Kelly: I understand that.  It is about striking a balance between respecting the 
information contained in the report and the concurrent rights of the individuals who are the 
subject of the report.  As I indicated, my default position is for publication.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: on the disciplinary procedures, I am very heartened to hear that 
the organisation has brought in an external lawyer with expertise in the area of employment and 
labour law.  However, I and others are in possession of letters about complaints made against 
individuals.  I accept Ms Kelly’s statement that there is a disaggregation between her role as 
a volunteer and as a member of the executive but if she is aware that there are four live com-
plaints, I assume she is aware of the nature and content of those complaints.

Chairman: I am a little uncomfortable with this.  We have already visited this issue and Ms 
Kelly has said she will not discuss live cases.  I am a little reluctant to go there.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: I am discussing policies and procedures.  A submission was before 
us-----

Chairman: The Deputy referenced letters he had received but which the committee does 
not have.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: There is correspondence and we are told a new policy is in place 
for disciplinary procedures, which was agreed on 18 November.  Disciplinary letters were is-
sued prior to that, the content of which I have not gone into.  I am trying to ascertain whether 
the new board had regard to those letters when it was considering the new policy which was 
agreed on 18 November.  In other words, does the new board stand over the letters that were 
issued and the policy around them?

Ms Aisling Kelly: We are not in possession of the letters to which the Deputy refers but I 
am aware that letters were issued.  I feel uncomfortable speaking about the particulars of those 
matters.  There is no point in a company having a set of policies if the board has control over 
who issues a complaint, who does not and the content of the complaint.  There has to be integ-
rity in the process.  If there is a policy and somebody submits a complaint, it should be allowed 
to take its course and be resolved.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: I thank Ms Kelly for her frankness, which is refreshing.  There 
needs to be a clear demarcation between roles and everything should be upfront.  A person who 
is listening to this meeting and who may be the subject of a complaint will know that there is a 
policy and procedures for how the complaint is dealt with.
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I wish the new board well.  There will be a role for us in seeking to examine how the tran-
sition between the old and new boards progresses.  Mr. Elliott was very honest with us on the 
challenges he found and I imagine that the new board will have to challenge a pre-existing 
culture.  I am not saying there is a black mark against existing cultures but one has to let in the 
light and certain people might not be favour of that.

Ms Aisling Kelly: We are very keen to make sure there is a culture of consequence through-
out the organisation but that is like pushing an open door for 99% of the people involved in 
the organisation, who are good, decent hardworking volunteers working for the good of other 
people’s children all the time.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: What is the number of files that went to the DPP in the past ten 
years?  How many years was Scouting Ireland without a safeguarding officer?

Dr. John Lawlor: I cannot answer the question on the number of files that went to the DPP 
but I am happy to get back to the committee with an answer.  I do not know off the top of my 
head and I would not like to guess at the figure.  As Mr. Elliot stated, we observed all our report-
ing obligations in respect of Tusla and An Garda Síochána and, in the other jurisdiction, in the 
context of the PSNI.  Prosecution is a matter for the respective prosecution authorities and the 
police.  I am not trying to dodge the question, I just do not want to guess the answer.  I hope the 
Deputy will accept that.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: Absolutely.  Can Dr. Lawlor give me a timeframe for when the 
secretary will have a response to that question?  It is crucial for me.

Dr. John Lawlor: We can check.  It is not something we would want to hold back.  If we 
know it, we can find it out.  It is a matter with the statutory authorities.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: It is something I am looking for.  It is a request.  The other ques-
tion relates to the number of years without a safeguarding officer being in place.

Dr. John Lawlor: We did not have a position of safeguarding officer.  When we engaged 
Mr. Elliot in the summer of 2017, our child protection officer had left that month.  We engaged 
Mr. Elliot immediately to take on the role.  We have not had someone in the old position but, 
as I have outlined previously, what is proposed now is an entirely new structure; it is not the 
replacement of one officer for another.  We believe that would be an inappropriate structure not 
only because of the volume of complaints, of which the committee has got some sense of today, 
but the complexity of the job.  It would put undue strain on one person if it all fell on him or 
her.  Mr. Elliot spoke about the team and the need for a manager.  We believe the next key step 
is to employ a manger who has the experience, background and qualifications and to build a 
team around that person.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: I totally understand what Dr. Lawlor is saying.  Prior to Mr. El-
liot arriving, when was the last time Scouting Ireland had somebody in that role in a full-time 
capacity?  I am not talking about somebody in an interim position or covering sick leave, ma-
ternity leave or any other sort of leave.

Dr. John Lawlor: It was June 2017.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: Was that in a full-time capacity?

Dr. John Lawlor: Yes.
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Deputy  Sean Sherlock: Who is the current national secretary of Scouting Ireland?

Ms Aisling Kelly: The national secretary of the association is Charles McGuinness.  As 
stated earlier, we are in the process of winding it down.  As it is an incorporated association, it 
exists while there is membership.  There will be no membership renewal in January 2019.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: If a disciplinary proceeding was issued under the signature of the 
national secretary in October, what is the status of that if the association is wound down?

Ms Aisling Kelly: The disciplinary procedures that were issued-----

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: on 1 october.

Ms Aisling Kelly: -----would follow the policies that were operational on that date.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: The policies have remained the same.

Ms Aisling Kelly: No, the policies have materially changed.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: How?

Ms Aisling Kelly: There has been a separation out of the first instance disputes and griev-
ances policy, which was married with the disciplinary policy.  There was an update on the fit-
and-proper-person test.  There is an update on how we deal with a number of material issues.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: To be straight about it, will Ms Kelly indicate what the status of 
a complaint is if a letter was issued on 1 October by an Accounting Officer, in Civil Service 
parlance, or a paid official, and if it involves disciplinary proceedings against an individual?

Ms Aisling Kelly: The procedure being followed is the procedure of the association.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: of the association.

Ms Aisling Kelly: Yes.

Chairman: It was adopted by the members at the AGM.

Ms Aisling Kelly: It is Scouting Ireland, unincorporated association, vis-à-vis Scouting 
Ireland as the company.  Any matters which predated 6 October are being dealt with under the 
policies of the Scouting Ireland association.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: For which the new board has no oversight.

Ms Aisling Kelly: We have a good working relationship with the national secretary.  The 
national secretary and I have been speaking about these matters and we are aware of them.  Fur-
ther to what I stated earlier, it is not a matter on which I want to elaborate any further.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: It is my intention to pursue, in so far as I can, while I have a man-
date here, natural justice in respect of any complaints that are made.  I have an obligation to 
certain people who have approached me to ensure-----

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: So do I.  I have received them as well.

Deputy  Sean Sherlock: -----it is followed through to the letter of the law.
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Ms Aisling Kelly: I welcome that.

Chairman: There must be some sort of legal relationship between the two.  If there is a 
complaint on file from the end of September, one from 7 December and one from 7 October, 
there is different treatment and a different authority.  There has to be some sort of legal arrange-
ment in place for the organisation to take that up.

Ms Aisling Kelly: There is.

Chairman: Can Ms Kelly clarify that?

Ms Aisling Kelly: I can clarify it.  We have instructed a firm of specialist solicitors who are 
dealing with the wind-down of the unincorporated association and within that there will be the 
legal transfer of any existing issues.

Chairman: Ms Kelly can give assurances to Scouting Ireland members that nothing will 
fall through the cracks.

Ms Aisling Kelly: Absolutely.

Chairman: That concludes our session.  on behalf of the committee, I thank our guests for 
their presentation and for dealing with the members’ questions in such a comprehensive man-
ner.

The joint committee adjourned at 12.15 p.m. until 9.30 a.m. on Wednesday, 5 December 
2018.


